# **Fused-Quartz Fibers**

A Survey of Properties, Applications, and Production Methods

# UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE

NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

## PERIODICALS OF THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

#### (Published monthly)

The National Bureau of Standards is engaged in fundamental and applied research in physics, chemistry, mathematics, and engineering. Projects are conducted in fifteen fields: electricity and electronics, optics and metrology, heat and power, atomic and radiation physics, chemistry, mechanics, organic and fibrous materials, metallurgy, mineral products, building technology, applied mathematics, data processing systems, cryogenic engineering, radio propagation, and radio standards. The Bureau has custody of the national standards of measurement and conducts research leading to the improvement of scientific and engineering standards and of techniques and methods of measurement. Testing methods and instruments are developed; physical constants and properties of materials are determined; and technical processes are investigated.

#### Journal of Research

The Journal presents research papers by authorities in the specialized fields of physics, mathematics, chemistry, and engineering. Complete details of the work are presented, including laboratory data, experimental procedures, and theoretical and mathematical analyses. Annual subscription: domestic, \$4.00; \$1.25 additional for foreign mailing.

## **Technical News Bulletin**

Summaries of current research at the National Bureau of Standards are published each month in the Technical News Bulletin. The articles are brief, with emphasis on the results of research, chosen on the basis of their scientific or technologic importance. Lists of all Bureau publications during the preceding month are given, including Research Papers, Handbooks, Applied Mathematics Series, Building Materials and Structures Reports, Miscellaneous Publications, and Circulars. Each issue contains 12 or more two-column pages; illustrated. Annual subscription: domestic, \$1.00; 35 cents additional for foreign mailing.

## **Basic Radio Propagation Predictions**

The Predictions provide the information necessary for calculating the best frequencies for communication between any two points in the world at any time during the given month. The data are important to all users of long-range radio communications and navigation, including broadcasting, airline, steamship, and wireless services, as well as to investigators of radio propagation and ionosphere. Each issue, covering a period of one month, is released three months in advance and contains 16 large pages, including pertinent charts, drawings, and tables. Annual subscription: domestic, \$1.00; 25 cents additional for foreign mailing.

## CATALOGS OF NBS PUBLICATIONS

National Bureau of Standards Circular 460 and its Supplement lists all Bureau publications from 1901 through June 1952, including Applied Mathematics Series, Building Materials and Structures Reports, Circulars, Handbooks, Research Papers, and Miscellaneous Publications. Brief abstracts for the publications issued after January 1, 1942, are also included.

National Bureau of Standards Circular 460, 375 pages, \$1.25. Supplement to Circular 460, 223 pages, 75 cents. (A free mimeographed list of publications issued since June 1952 is available on request to the National Bureau of Standards.)

# Fused-Quartz Fibers

## A Survey of Properties, Applications, and Production Methods

Nancy J. Tighe



## National Bureau of Standards Circular 569 Issued January 25, 1956

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington 25, D. C. Price 25 cents

# Contents

Page
------

		0	
1.	Introduction	1	
2.	Applications of fused-silica fibers		
3.	. Production and fabrication methods		
	3.1. Fused silica	4	
	3.2. Fused-silica fibers	4	
	3.3. Silica-fiber apparatus	6	
4.	Mechanical properties of fused-silica		
	fibers	9	
	4.1. Strength	9	
	4.2. Elastic properties	12	
5.	Some properties of fused silica	14	
	5.1. Structure	14	
	5.2. Chemical durability	14	
	5.3. Permeability	15	
	,		

5.	. Some properties of fused s	ilica—Con.	Page
	5.4. Sorption		15
	5.5. Hardness		15
	5.6. Density	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	15
	5.7. Devitrification		16
	5.8. Thermal expansion		16
	5.9. Viscosity		17
6.	. Bibliography		18
	6.1. Books and reviews		18
	6.2. Applications of silic	a fibers	18
	6.3. Production and fabric	ation methods	20
	6.4. Properties of fused s	ilica and glass	20
	6.5. Miscellaneous referen	ces	25
7.	. Addendum	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	26

# **FUSED-QUARTZ FIBERS**

# A Survey of Properties, Applications, and Production Methods Nancy J. Tighe

Fused-silica fibers have an important function in many measuring instruments used in scientific research. Much of the information on the production and fabrication methods and on the properties of the fibers is widely scattered throughout the technical literature. This Circular is a survey of this literature and a summary of the findings. A bibliography of pertinent references on the subject is included to provide the sources of more complete and detailed information necessary for specific applications.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

This Circular is the result of a literature survey covering the properties and the uses of fused-silica fibers. Silica fibers or, as they are frequently called, quartz fibers, have had wide application in precision measuring instruments despite the fact that the factors which affect their behavior are not fully known. The survey of the literature revealed that while some investigations are made in order to obtain specific values of particular properties, other studies are made primarily to develop more completely the theoretical treatment of glasses and their relation to liquids and solids. Although this Circular covers primarily those properties related to the actual use of the fibers, it mentions those theories and properties needed for better understanding of the variations observed in the testing and use of silica fibers. It is hoped that this summary will aid in the production of silica fibers having more reproducible and predictable properties.

Throughout the literature such terms as fused silica, fused quartz, vitreous silica, silica glass, quartz glass are used to refer to types of fused silica. The use or misuse of the terms has been discussed frequently [7, 112, 301, 303 to 305]<sup>1</sup> but little uniformity has resulted. The terms used are meant to indicate the degree of transparency or the source of the raw material. For instance, in the glass industry the term fused silica may refer to the transparent material formed by the fusion of guartz sand or other forms of silica, while the term fused quartz may refer to the transparent material formed by the fusion of pure quartz rock crystal. However, this designation of terms is not used consistently, for the material is frequently described as clear or translucent fused quartz or as clear or translucent fused silica. In this Circular the term fused silica will be used in general for that glass formed by the fusion of silica. Where necessary, this term is modified by the adjectives clear or translucent. For instance, where the condition of transparency is evident from the use, such as in fibers which are drawn from clear fused silica, the fibers are referred to simply as silica fibers.

 $<sup>^{1}\ \</sup>mathrm{Figures}$  in brackets refer to the references listed in the bibliography.

# 2. APPLICATIONS OF FUSED-SILICA FIBERS

Although the first fused-silica fibers were made by Gaudin in 1839 [64] and some tubes and spirals were made and exhibited by Gautier in 1869 [67], these articles were more curiosities than useful tools. It was not until about 1887 when Boys [1] drew fibers and used them in his gravimetric work [65] that their usefulness was exploited. Today silica fibers in the form of paper, matting, cr wool are used in sizable quantities in heating and insulating devices [77. 80, 313]. These devices are well suited for high temperature work because of the highsoftening range, low-heat conductivity, and resistance to thermal shock exhibited by the fibers. However it is in the usage of single fibers that the unique properties such as high strength, elasticity, thermal, electrical, and chemical resistance are most fully utilized. It is with these individual fibers and their adaptability to precision measuring instruments that this review is chiefly concerned.

Individual fibers, with or without metallic coatings, have been used as suspensions, as sensing elements and as unit assemblies in many precision instruments. Silica fibers have been used as galvanometer suspensions [1, 65], in gravimetric balances [65, 66], in electroscopes and electrometers [9, 70, 74], in low pressure manometers [78], in radiameters [75], in ionization chambers [79], and in magnetometers [73]. They may possibly be of some use as electrodes in electron tubes.

One of the more extensive uses of silica fibers is in the microbalance field. The entire weighing system can be made of fibers, thus avoiding any errors due to differing densities and coefficients of expansion of the members. Silica fibers are particularly desirable for these instruments because of their high strength in tension and in torsion, nearly perfect elasticity, negligible hysteresis. Further, the resistance to chemical attack, low rate of sorption, low permeability, and ease of cleaning allow such balances to be used under many difficult weighing conditions. Only brief mention is made here of the major developments in fiber microbalances. Reviews of silica fiber microbalance developments [12 to 18, 50] and papers on specific balances should be consulted for complete information about theories and principles of operation and design.

The earliest microbalance using silica fibers was that designed by Salvoni [19]. This type of balance [20 to 24] relies on the rigidity of a cantilever fiber to indicate displacement due to load. Shortly afterward Nernst [25] introduced a microbalance consisting of a horizontal silica fiber attached to and supporting a fine glass rod with a counterpoised pointer to indicate deflection due to load. This type of balance, which uses a silica fiber as a knife edge, is still in use although in forms slightly modified from the original [26 to 36]. Steele and Grant [37, 38] were the first to construct an arm balance entirely of fused silica. The balance, made from fine fused silica rods with fiber load suspensions and a fused-silica knife edge, utilizes a method of weighing by pressure. Several modifications in the design or in the operation of the Steele-Grant balance have been made for adaptation to particular uses [39 to 42, 46, 48]. Pettersson [43 to 45] introduced suspension of the arm balance by two fine vertical fibers as a replacement for the conventional knife edge; and developed further the theory of such suspension. Neher [9] designed a microbalance which consisted of a silica-fiber crossarm attached to a horizontal silica torsion fiber, the twist of which is proportional to the load. This balance can be brought to an equilibrium position by rotating the torsion fiber with a wheel calibrated to indicate the amount of twist in mass units.

From this point microbalances using silica fibers were usually designed by combining certain principles developed in the earlier fiber balances. The balance of Kirk and Craig [23, 47, 49] and modifications by Carmichael [53], El-Badry and Wilson [50], and Garner [54, 310] consist of a nominally equal-arm beam with fiber pan suspension and use a torsion fiber to determine weight differences. These balances differ slightly in design and operation, the greatest design difference being in that of Garner which has a single vertical suspension fiber in addition to the torsion fiber.

The simplest and apparently most widely used fiber balance is the helical spring type [55 to 63], frequently referred to as a McBain-Bakr balance [55]. The silica spring balance can be used for sorption measurements, density determinations, measurements of heat loss and evaporation. Discussions of design characteristics [107] and application to particular measurements can be found in the references cited. The springs resist corrosion and can be easily cleaned but have very little damping due to internal friction.

# 2. APPLICATIONS OF FUSED-SILICA FIBERS

Although the first fused-silica fibers were made by Gaudin in 1839 [64] and some tubes and spirals were made and exhibited by Gautier in 1869 [67], these articles were more curiosities than useful tools. It was not until about 1887 when Boys [1] drew fibers and used them in his gravimetric work [65] that their usefulness was exploited. Today silica fibers in the form of paper, matting, cr wool are used in sizable quantities in heating and insulating devices [77, 80, 313]. These devices are well suited for high temperature work because of the highsoftening range, low-heat conductivity, and resistance to thermal shock exhibited by the fibers. However it is in the usage of single fibers that the unique properties such as high strength, elasticity, thermal, electrical, and chemical resistance are most fully utilized. It is with these individual fibers and their adaptability to precision measuring instruments that this review is chiefly concerned.

Individual fibers, with or without metallic coatings, have been used as suspensions, as sensing elements and as unit assemblies in many precision instruments. Silica fibers have been used as galvanometer suspensions [1, 65], in gravimetric balances [65, 66], in electroscopes and electrometers [9, 70, 74], in low pressure manometers [78], in radiameters [75], in ionization chambers [79], and in magnetometers [73]. They may possibly be of some use as electrodes in electron tubes.

One of the more extensive uses of silica fibers is in the microbalance field. The entire weighing system can be made of fibers, thus avoiding any errors due to differing densities and coefficients of expansion of the members. Silica fibers are particularly desirable for these instruments because of their high strength in tension and in torsion, nearly perfect elasticity, negligible hysteresis. Further, the resistance to chemical attack, low rate of sorption, low permeability, and ease of cleaning allow such balances to be used under many difficult weighing conditions. Only brief mention is made here of the major developments in fiber microbalances. Reviews of silica fiber microbalance developments [12 to 18, 50] and papers on specific balances should be consulted for complete information about theories and principles of operation and design.

The earliest microbalance using silica fibers was that designed by Salvoni [19]. This type of balance [20 to 24] relies on the rigidity of a cantilever fiber to indicate displacement due to load. Shortly afterward Nernst [25] introduced a microbalance consisting of a horizontal silica fiber attached to and supporting a fine glass rod with a counterpoised pointer to indicate deflection due to load. This type of balance, which uses a silica fiber as a knife edge, is still in use although in forms slightly modified from the original [26 to 36]. Steele and Grant [37, 38] were the first to construct an arm balance entirely of fused silica. The balance, made from fine fused silica rods with fiber load suspensions and a fused-silica knife edge, utilizes a method of weighing by pressure. Several modifications in the design or in the operation of the Steele-Grant balance have been made for adaptation to particular uses [39 to 42, 46, 48]. Pettersson [43 to 45] introduced suspension of the arm balance by two fine vertical fibers as a replacement for the conventional knife edge; and developed further the theory of such suspension. Neher [9] designed a microbalance which consisted of a silica-fiber crossarm attached to a horizontal silica torsion fiber, the twist of which is proportional to the load. This balance can be brought to an equilibrium position by rotating the torsion fiber with a wheel calibrated to indicate the amount of twist in mass units.

From this point microbalances using silica fibers were usually designed by combining certain principles developed in the earlier fiber balances. The balance of Kirk and Craig [23, 47, 49] and modifications by Carmichael [53], El-Badry and Wilson [50], and Garner [54, 310] consist of a nominally equal-arm beam with fiber pan suspension and use a torsion fiber to determine weight differences. These balances differ slightly in design and operation, the greatest design difference being in that of Garner which has a single vertical suspension fiber in addition to the torsion fiber.

The simplest and apparently most widely used fiber balance is the helical spring type [55 to 63], frequently referred to as a McBain-Bakr balance [55]. The silica spring balance can be used for sorption measurements, density determinations, measurements of heat loss and evaporation. Discussions of design characteristics [107] and application to particular measurements can be found in the references cited. The springs resist corrosion and can be easily cleaned but have very little damping due to internal friction.

## 3.1 Fused Silica

One of the greatest drawbacks in the commercial use of fused-silica fibers has been the difficulty and expense of preparing the bulk product from which the fibers are drawn. Prior to World War II no fused silica of good optical quality was produced commercially in the United States [87]. However since that time many of the technologic difficulties have been overcome and fused-silica rods are available in many grades and sizes.

The two forms of fused silica, transparent and nontransparent, are products of quartz rock crystal and of quartz sand, respectively. Sand contains occluded gases and impurities which are difficult to remove entirely in the cleaning process or in the fusion process with the result that the fused product contains volatile and nonvolatile impurities of approximately 0.06 and 0.1 percent, respectively [8]. These impurities are revealed in the masses of tiny bubbles which make the product nontransparent in varying degrees. On the other hand quartz rock crystal can be selected with few if any internal impurities and can be more effectively cleaned so that the occluded gases and other impurities on the surface are removed [87]. The resulting product is relatively free of bubbles and is highly transparent. Quartzites, natural deposits of guartz and vein quartz, which contain more impurities than rock crystal, are poor substitutes for rock crystal; they do however make a better product than quartz sand for the nontransparent form of fused silica [8]. A more recent development is the production of fused silica from "noncrystalline" materials [293,314].

The production and forming methods for fused silica in no way resemble those for commercial glasses [87]. This is because of the high temperatures needed for complete fusion of the highly viscous melt, complicated by volatilization. Although the melting point of quartz is probably below 1,470°C, the rate of fusion of quartz and the rate of change of the resulting glass into cristobal-4

ite are about the same below about 1.500°C. Above this temperature the formation of glass is able to keep ahead of the crystallization so that as the temperature is raised rapidly to above about 1,700°C there is no tendency to crystallize [7,109]. The fused product at this point is a soft plastic mass becoming fluid only after the temperature is raised to the range 2,000° to 2,500°C rapidly enough to prevent too much loss due to volatilization [109]. The development and refinement as well as the difficulties of fusion techniques for fused silica are described in several review articles [4, 7, 10, 85 to 88, 109] and in the original works of Shenstone [3], Paget [6]. and Hutton [82].

Silica can be fused in arc furnaces, resistor furnaces, graphite molds, and by directed flame. Each of the methods has certain difficulties including those caused by losses from volatilization and by reduction in the presence of carbon and hydrogen. With carbon or graphite electrodes or molds, carbon monoxide is formed and silicon carbide and elemental carbon vapor or silicon metal may be formed [88]. A purer product is obtained if the fusion is done in an oxidizing atmosphere which negates the effects of the reducing tendencies of carbon. There is no tendency for guartz or fused silica to adhere to the carbon if both are pure, for the oxides of carbon prevent close contact between the molten silica and the carbon electrodes or molds [82,88]. However, particles from the electrodes, molds or from the walls of the furnace deposited in the melt cause infusible hard zones which impair the quality of the final product. Further refinements of the fusion techniques may eliminate this type of impurity.

#### 3.2 Fused-Silica Fibers

With the developments in the fusion and forming techniques for fused silica, some of the difficulties of fiber production have been overcome. Early workers with fused-silica fibers [1 to 3, 92] were hampered by the lack of commercially available stocks of transparent rods from which fibers could be drawn. By fusing small pieces of fused silica into the form of a rod and working this rod until it was fairly smooth, these men obtained a rod from which fine sticks and then fibers could be drawn. This was a tedious and time-consuming process and limited the quantity and quality of fibers which could be drawn in a reasonable time. Threlfall [2] mentioned spending 14 days to get two fibers about 2.5 microns in diameter by about 13 inches long.

The production of silica fibers may be classified by two major methods. One method includes those processes used for limited production of single fibers. Namely, blowing of fibers with a flame and the drawing of fibers by hand, and by simple mechanical means whereby the length is limited or the amount drawn is small. The other method includes those processes in which automatic or semiautomatic machines are used for continuous production of single fibers.

The process of blowing fibers in a flame depends on the action of friction of the gases used. Two slightly different methods are used, one [9, 195] producing a long fine fiber, the other [2, 92] a mass of short fibers. In the first process the stock, a fiber about 25 microns in diameter, is held vertically in a long flame until a finer fiber is blown out. The size of the fiber thus blown depends on the size of the original stock, the temperature and size of the flame and the time interval between starting the fiber and its removal from the flame. The fibers are smooth in appearance but have a slight curl which decreases the strength [195]. In the second method the fiber stock is first drawn apart in the flame and the two pieces stroked back and forth in the flame, which is placed in a horizontal postion. The fibers are blown out horizontally and caught on a cloth or board placed a few feet from the flame. These fibers are deposited in a tangled mass and must be eased apart. They are fairly short and may be damaged by superficial scratches from the contacts. Fibers can also be drawn by a hand method [1, 5, 9] in which the stock is melted at a point and

the two ends drawn rapidly apart to produce a rather heavy fiber; or by the gravity method [94] in which the stock, weighted at one end, is heated at a point until melted sufficiently so that the falling weight draws out a fiber. Boys [1] and Threlfall [2] each developed a simple mechanical method for drawing fibers. Boys used a crossbow with a straw arrow which when released drew from the fiber stock a fine fiber as long as 60 feet. Threlfall used a modified catapult the slider of which when released drew short thick fibers.

Machines for continuous drawing of silica fibers generally have three elements: a chuck to hold the silica stock stationary, to rotate it about its axis, or to move it lengthwise into the flame; a holder to maintain the torch at the proper angle and either to hold it steady or to move it along the fiber stock; a rotating reel to draw the fiber from the molten stock at a given rate [11, 102 to 104, 107]. These elements can be geared to be regulated independently or as a unit in order to draw a desired size of fiber under readily reproduced conditions. A convenient base for the elements is a lathe or a drill press used either horizontally or vertically. This type of machine has been used to draw fibers from 600 to 0.7 microns from stock of 12 to 0.15 millimeters in diameter. Once the flame is adjusted to give sufficient heat for thorough melting of a particular size of stock then the reel speed and the rate of feed of the stock into the flame can be related to the approximate diameter of the fiber [11, 103]. The ratio of fiber pulling to fiber melting can be regulated within limits above which the fiber breaks off and below which the stock is not sufficiently melted for uniform drawing [11]. Drive slippage and speed recovery accompanied by alternate drawing of cold and hot silica into the fiber results in variations in strength and in the diameter of the fiber [103].

Many gas mixtures have been used in all of the above methods: oxy-hydrogen, oxy-coal gas, oxy-natural gas, oxy-acetylene. It has not been mentioned whether the gases used affect the fibers, although the heat of the flame must be regulated so that it is neither high enough to volatilize an excessive amount of the fused silica nor low enough to prevent sufficient melting. With the thicker stock, curly fibers result from uneven heating [1, 2, 94, 195], so curly in some cases as to resemble watch springs [2]. These fibers can be straightened by "soft flaming" but are weakened as a result [195]. A slight bowing due to the effect of gravity on larger fibers has been noticed when they are drawn horizontally; however, the small fibers can be drawn either horizontally or vertically with no noticable effects [316].

With flame-blown silica fibers about 21 microns in diameter and 15 cm in length, Horton [185] observed variations in the diameter of about 1 to 4 percent. The fibers had the appearance of a sequence of irregular conic sections within an over-all tapered fiber. Similar irregularities in shape of about six percent in a quarter of an inch were observed in some machine drawn fibers [316]. The long term variations could be associated with variations in the stock and with the pulling phase. For example, rungs or tapes used on sectional reels cause an irregular rate of pulling which results in a slight taper in the fiber between the markers [103], a variation which is especially noted in fine fibers. The short term variations in the diameter could arise from insufficient melting of the stock, oscillations of the flame, vibrations in the drawing equipment, or even a natural oscillation between the rate of drawing and the rate of melting. Although these diameter variations were not mentioned by many workers, it is possible that they were not sought or that they were so small as to be hardly perceptible with the measuring equipment used.

Although fused silica fibers seem to lose strength with age [188 to 191, 199, 200] the real effects of actual storage conditions on this loss of strength are not known. It would appear that a method of storing fibers might be determined which would help to preserve the strength and to prevent damage by dust, moisture, certain atmospheres, or accidental scratching.

Contamination and scratching of the fibers from dust, salts in the air, and from handling with the fingers tends to weaken the fibers. When the fibers are fused or heated the silicates formed by impurities on the surface can cause brittle joints and weak fi-

bers [50, 315, 316]. Finger marks on large pieces of fused silica appear as devitrification marks on the material after it has been worked in a flame [300]. Opinions regarding methods to counteract this contamination and subsequent weakening differ among workers. Some workers prefer to prevent contamination by working under scrupulously clean conditions, using only those fibers which are freshly drawn, free of dust and other contamination and by never touching that part of the fiber which is used in a piece of apparatus [9, 315]. Others prefer to remove any contamination on the fibers by cleaning with a solution, such as chromic acid, before the joints are fused or the fibers worked [104, 106]. The finished piece is also cleaned to remove any deposits which result from handling during the working of the fibers. The effects of cleaning solutions on the strength of fibers and on the finished piece are not known or have not been detected. The effects are complicated by the fact that while cleaning, rubbing with the fingers, and adsorption of moisture reduce the tensile strength, these processes tend to increase the resistance to scratching or to any further surface injury [113].

## 3.3 Silica-Fiber Apparatus

The fineness of the silica fibers used necessitates the use of holders or jigs to prevent the fibers from blowing away while they are being fabricated into the various devices. A number of different types of holders and jigs are used. These aids, used mostly in the fabrication of microbalances and electrometers, are described more thoroughly by the individual experimenters.

The holders used by Neher [9] and by Carmichael [315] consist of forks with two prongs whose spacing is either adjustable or is fixed for a particular length of fiber. These forks hold individual fibers only at the ends of the fiber and allow the fiber to be held in any position while joints are fused. The holders can be held in a micromanipulator, or the proper sized holder can be placed in position in a jig designed to insure reproducible construction of a particular device. The used portion of a fiber is never touched so that any damage which may result from contact with a holder or with the fingers is avoided. With this type of holder the fibers can be removed directly from a storage reel, thus eliminating extra handling steps.

Kirk [104,311] used two types of holders; one is a holder with multiple prongs on which a fiber is supported and shaped; the other is a Y-shaped holder on which a fiber is supported. Fibers are clipped or fastened to these holders at intervals along the usuable length and can then be held in any desired position. A predesigned assembly of these holders allows for repeated construction of fiber apparatus. However, where the holders are made of heavy silica fibers or other hard materials there is some danger of scratching resulting from the contact between holder and fiber.

In some applications where fairly heavy fibers are used for a beam or supporting member, metal, carbon, or asbestos blocks appropriately grooved are used as templates. The fibers are laid in the grooves, the joints fused or cemented and the fine fibers either drawn out from the assembly or fused on in the appropriate places [28, 32, 35 to 37, 39, 40]. Joints made in this way are frequently brittle and weak because of overheating and may be contaminated by the block itself [50].

Two methods using templates as patterns or guides in the construction process have been used. The templates used by O'Donnell [102] consist of thin glass plates equipped with pegs to locate the fibers and with silica fiber clips to hold the fibers in place for fusing. The plates are held in proper positions in jigs so that all the joints can be fused through the appropriate holes drilled in the plates. El-Badry and Wilson [50] used a series of patterns drawn on matt paper. Fibers attached to microscope slides are placed in position over the pattern and the joints cemented in successive steps until the assembly is completed. All the fibers can be attached in this manner.

While there are certain disadvantages to the use of some of the methods such as contamination, overheating of the joints, scratching, the ease of manipulation and the character of the final assembly may outweigh any disadvantage and thus determine the method to be followed in individual applications.

In the construction of spiral or helical springs, long even silica fibers are needed. Although shorter fibers have been fused together to make a fiber long enough for a spring [106] this practice may affect the performance of the spring.

Silica springs are wound on a suitable mandrel by feeding the fiber in place and heating it to conform to the shape of the mandrel. The mandrel may be tapered for ease of removal and to suit the design characteristics of the spring [107]. Several materials have been used for mandrels including carbon and graphite [55, 95 to 98, 100, 101, 106], Pyrex [105], Vycor and fused-silica [99, 107] rods or tubes. Of these, fused silica and Vycor mandrels have been considered most suitable because they have the slight adherence necessary to prevent stretching and a coefficient of expansion the same as or similar to that of the fibers wound [107]. Carbon and graphite mandrels may damage the spring by overheating and by contamination. Springs wound on carbon or graphite mandrels may have squared rather than smooth coils.

Over the years many methods of winding silica springs have been developed. In the earliest successful method the mandrel was turned about its tilted axis by hand and, as the fiber coiled about the mandrel, a flame bent it to the mandrel [55, 95, 106]. This method has been greatly improved and mechanized to produce more regular springs [97, 98, 100, 105]. In the latest and most completely mechanized method, as described by Ernsberger and Drew [107], the mandrel is turned in a lathe which has controls for the fiber and flame guides to allow for uniformity in the spacing and in the coils, and for proper heating of the fiber.

As with all procedures for fabricating apparatus from silica fibers, the precautions against contamination and damage resulting from handling and from the actual fabrication process should be observed.

For many applications a conducting surface of metal or of graphite [79] on silica fibers has proved very satisfactory. There are several methods for putting this coating on the fibers including sputtering, evaporating, plating, or baking a painted coat [2, 5, 79, 91, 94]. A coating or plated surface on the ends of fibers has also been used to facilitate holding fibers in certain apparatus.

Additional equipment for fiber work includes a binocular microscope, micromanipulators and holders, torch holders, small torches made from fine fused-silica tubing or from hypodermic needles. Detailed descriptions of the techniques of construction of fiber devices and descriptions of the equipment used in their fabrication are given by Neher [9], O'Donnell [102], Haring [103], and Kirk [104]. Individual construction details and specialized design problems are discussed most completely by the workers who developed the apparatus (see applications).

In regular fusing operations involving quartz or fused silica [299, 300] the intense

heat radiation, the fumes and disagreeable odors cause fatigue and nausea among most workers. For these reasons and because of the possibility of silicosis most workers in this country work only 2 or 4 hours with quartz or fused silica. Special glasses such as those using Noviweld lenses should be used to protect the eyes from the intense infrared radiations. A suitable exhaust system should be used to carry away the heat and the fumes.

While these discomforts have been referred to in large scale operations there is little reference to such effects when working with silica fibers. This could be because of the smaller masses involved and the consequent smaller amounts of heat and fumes. It is well to note, however, that there are some precautions to be taken in quartz fusing operations.

# 4. MECHANICAL PROPERTIES OF FUSED-SILICA FIBERS

## 4.1 Strength

Strength is defined as the resistance of a material to fracture or quantitatively as the critical value of stress at which fracture occurs [223]. The mechanical strength of fused silica can be considered in three categories: compressive strength, bending strength, and tensile strength. The compressive strength of fused silica is 2 or 3 times that of ordinary glasses and is about one fifth less than that of quartz [7]. The bending strength, modulus of rupture, of silica fibers is generally higher than the tensile strength [7, 188 to 190, 241] and is affected by the same factors which cause so much scatter in the values of the tensile strength. The tensile strength of silica fibers is smaller than the crushing strength. However, the individual values vary much more than the uncertainty of measurement which makes comparison of values difficult.

The tensile strength of silica fibers exceeds that of most metals and other materials. This high strength coupled with an almost perfect elasticity makes silica fibers desirable for many applications. However the great range of individual values for strength and the slight loss of strength due to certain conditions of use prevent or limit those applications needing more than the minimum values of strength. For this reason there is a need to investigate the strength of silica fibers with special attention given to the methods of production and to the conditions under which they are used. Most measurements of tensile and bending strength on any quantity of silica fibers [188 to 195] were made with fibers produced by flame, hand, bow and arrow or other simple methods. The only available measurements on machine drawn fibers [11] as published are not very complete.

The scattering in the determinations of tensile and bending strength of fibers is so large that the assignment of a definite strength is difficult. A graph showing experimental values obtained for tensile strength and for bending strength might ap-

pear to be of some help. However an analysis shows dissimilarities in individual testing procedures, in the specimens, handling, thermal treatment, temperature and humidity controls, in the test equipment and in the presentation of the results; all of which tend to affect the values determined for strength and thus make any strict comparison misleading. The results of the various investigators show trends in the strength such as an increase in strength with decreasing diameter and length, some variations due to the atmosphere, to thermal treatment, to age, to drawing methods, to handling methods. The possible errors that may result from taking values at random from experimental curves can be illustrated by a plot of all the previously determined values of tensile strength with respect to the diameter, on a log-log scale. Here where a value of the strength for a 100-micron fiber is about 35 to 40 kg/mm<sup>2</sup>, the tensile strength given for a 10-micron fiber may range from 2 to 12 times larger than this value, while those for a 3-micron fiber may range from 5 to 100 times larger than the values given for the 100-micron fiber. The trend on these curves for fibers over 100 microns is a slow approach to a constant value, while that for fibers less than 100 microns is a rapid increase in strength in a linear manner.

In the experimental curves showing the strength of silica fibers as determined by an investigator different methods of showing the results are used. Such curves may indicate maximum values [188 to 191], values adjusted for the presence of flaws [195], average values [192, 193], values without the conditions specified [11], and in some cases all the values determined [1, 2, 188 to 190]. Without some standardization of the testing procedure, comparisons of such values are frequently meaningless. For example the diameter measurements can greatly affect the results [307, 309] especially with small diameter fibers. An interesting discussion of the problem of correlation of strength measurements on glass is presented by Bailey [207].

The mechanical strength of glasses has been termed a "structure sensitive" property [2]3]. The random structure with the resulting variations in bond strength and in the interatomic distances gives glasses and especially fused silica an initially high value for strength. However, the theoretical strength is somewhat modified by certain discontinuities in the structure and by the effects of various external factors on them [116, 213]. The differences between the theoretical and the experimental strength of glasses led Griffith [199, 200] to postulate the existence of certain concentrations of energy in the form of submicroscopic cracks or flaws throughout the material. These flaws could occur either during the manufacturing process or in subsequent treatment of a glass. The effect of flaws or discontinuities is to produce local stresses which exceed the average stress and as a result lead to failure. Calculations of the effects show that they could conceivably account for the differences between theoretical and actual strength [200, 208, 223]. Proof of the existence of flaws was demonstrated in experiments [163, 164] which showed fine cracks in places on annealed fused silica rods and tubes where no accidental scratching could occur. The Griffith flaws appeared to be about 10 microns long by about 0.01 microns deep.

#### a. Production

The drawing process for silica fibers has some effect on the final strength. In regard to the method of production fibers drawn by bow and arrow appear to have higher tensile strength and show less scattering of values than those blown in a flame which in turn appear to have higher tensile strength and show less scatter than those fibers drawn by hand [195]. Comparative tests with machine drawn silica fibers are not available in the current literature. It is entirely probable that such fibers could show greater strength and less scatter because of the controlled conditions under which they can be drawn.

The drawing process can be regulated with respect to drawing temperature, rate of drawing, and rate of cooling and thus determine to some extent the strength [103]. The

severe quench from the rapid rate of cooling provides a fire polished surface which resists chemical reactions and decreases or delays the effects of cracks or flaws. Recently the importance of the rate of cooling on commercial glass fibers was brought out by Slater [227] who found little variation in strength between fibers 0.002 in. in diameter and those 0.0002 in. in diameter when both were drawn at the same rate of cooling. The rate of cooling can be regulated in the fiber drawing machines by adjusting the drawing temperature and the drawing speed within certain limits [11]. The thermal history of fibers as determined by drawing conditions is one of the important single factors in the strength of silica fibers.

From further considerations of the drawing process two theories were developed in order to explain the difference in strength between fibers and the bulk product from which they are drawn. One theory was advanced by Murgatroyd [172] who suggested that in order to allow the continuity of the fiber as drawn the strongest bonds were selected from the melt and alined parallel to the direction of drawing while the weakest bonds were alined perpendicular to the direction of drawing. In the other theory Bickerman and Passmore [220] believed that the flaws in a fiber must be oriented favorably to enable the fiber to be drawn. These theories emphasize the importance of the drawing process rather than the reduction of size which accompanies it. Although there are many who support or have supported these ideas [143, 149, 173, 213, 215, 222], recent experiments [148, 161] on annealed glass fibers indicate that there is neither an orientation of bonds nor one of flaws in fibers which could be responsible for the high strength. Additional evidence showed that an oriented structure was not evidenced by X-ray studies [160] and that if an orientation at the surface existed, its influence on the strength could not be detected [193].

#### b. Size

Experiments on the breaking strength of silica fibers show an increase in strength with decreasing fiber diameter [1, 11, 188 to 195]. Similar results occur with other glass

fibers [195, 235] and in glass slabs where a small area is tested [236]. An additional increase in strength is found when the specimen length is decreased [190,220]. Assuming that flaws exist in fibers, then the apparent dependence of strength on fiber size can be explained in a statistical manner by the decreasing probability of effective flaws occurring as the volume or the surface of a fiber is decreased [193, 213, 214, 220]. Although there is some basis for assuming a relation between the probability of flaws occurring in relation to the size of a specimen, an exact expression for the distribution function of the cracks or flaws is difficult to formulate [223].

Orowan [223] considered that the necessarily arbitrary assumptions as to the size of cracks and to the number of cracks in a given volume or over a given area without accounting for the individual history of the cracks led to results "more interesting mathematically than correct physically." However, the thinnest silica fibers which have been investigated have diameters less than the supposed size of an ordinary Griffith crack and the strength of these fibers appears to approach the theoretical values determined for the material. These fibers could not contain flaws as large as those in larger specimens and unless the flaws were large enough to weaken the fiber by reducing its cross section, the strength, Orowan concluded, should be higher than that of a thick rod. The consideration of the number and size of flaws in a given length particularly affects measurements of bending strength where the probability of flaws occurring at a certain point of maximum stress is smaller than that of flaws occurring over a given length, with the result that values for bending strength are generally higher than those for tensile strength. In addition, the nonuniformity in strength over the entire length of a fiber [241] due to the existence of flaws is a possible cause for the great range of values determined for any one size of fiber. A well-designed statistical test procedure might help to remedy the situation.

#### c. Surface

The large surface area in comparison with the volume of fibers may account for the noticeable effect of the surface and its treatment on the strength of silica fibers. The chemical and physical nature of the surface of glass has been described as different from that of the body of a glass [160]. Structurally, this influence of the surface can be explained by a broadening of the bondstrength distribution near the surface which tapers off toward the interior and leaves weak bonds at the surface. Although flaws are considered to be distributed throughout the material, the strength is determined by the most dangerous flaws on the surface [193, 199, 200], for a surface flaw can exert twice the stress of the same sized inner flaw [221]. The stress variations in individual fibers resulting from the existence of flaws, scratches on the surface, and the effects of surrounding conditions on them, may cause fracture before the theoretical elastic limit is reached. Because of the effects on strength of these conditions it is difficult to bring values of individual fibers within a small range of error. It may be appropriate to mention here the often quoted idea of Little that one measures not the strength of a material but the weakness of its surface. A discussion of the chemical and physical aspects of the surface condition of glasses is presented in a series of works by Weyl [116, 175, 213].

#### d. Environment

Glass fibers are tested and used under adverse conditions because of the character of the material. For the actual normal conditions of atmosphere are corrosive to commercial glasses and to some extent to fused silica just as certain special atmospheres are corrosive to metals and other materials [213]. Experiments on strength of fused silica fibers in certain controlled atmospheres indicate a relationship between moisture absorbed and the strength [192, 193].

After silica fibers have been exposed to the air, water vapor is absorbed which decreases the strength from that obtained immediately after the fiber is drawn. When this layer of moisture is removed the tensile strength increases. The tensile strength of fibers, which have been heated in a vacuum to remove all absorbed moisture, increases up to 3 or 4 times the strength in water or water vapor. When the same or similar fibers were dried in  $CaCl_2$  the strength increased about one and a half to two times the strength in water vapor [190, 192, 193]. When water or alcohol vapor was admitted into the evacuated apparatus the strength immediately decreased to its original values. For fibers of a given diameter the strength in oil, and in alcohol is greater than that in air. In addition, the strength of those fibers which were in the air for a long time was the same as that of fibers broken in water, and the strength oil or alcohol vapor was the same as that of fibers broken in the liquids.

Further experiments [188 to 193] on the effects of etching in hydrofluoric acid revealed a 3 to 5 fold increase in strength of silica fibers after the etching. There was, however, a considerable amount of scattering of the values which was partially explained [193] as a result of the etching process which alternately smoothes and then exposes flaws; the strength thus depending on the condition of the surface at the time of removal from the acid. The strength of fibers broken in the acid did not differ much from that of fibers broken in the air. Furthermore, the strength gradually increased with etching until a certain maximum thickness had been removed, after which no further increase was noticeable [190]. These etched fibers were very susceptible to damage from the air or from scratching although a protective coating of shellac helped them retain their high strength [193].

The strength of silica fibers is decreased by scratches from atmosphere dust [199, 200] and from other fibers. There is an immediate loss of strength resulting in fracture when a fiber under strain is touched by another silica fiber. A further decrease of strength results from contact with the fingers [213, 315], although those parts rubbed with the fingers are protected from further injury [113]. It has been suggested occasionally that silica fibers be coated to prevent damage from the various atmospheric conditions or to increase the strength. There is at present no published data available on the effects of coatings on silica fibers. However, investigations [195, 227] of

the effects of coatings on textile glass fibers revealed that while the coating itself did not increase the strength it did lessen the effects of atmospheric attack in some instances. The chief use of a resin or wax coating is to prevent seizing of glass fibers when they are woven or pressed. Silica fibers are much more resistant to damage than commercial glass fibers and in present applications careful handling will avoid much harmful damage. A protective coating may prove useful however.

The tensile strength of silica fibers increases slightly with increasing temperature up to the flow region, showing minimum strength at room temperature [108, 116]. This can be explained by the fact that the healing of the cracks by surface diffusion as the temperature is raised outweighs the influence of thermal motion which tends to increase tension and to spread the cracks [213]. In addition, the absorbed moisture layer which is thick and active at room temperature is driven off at higher temperatures and is inactive at low temperatures [213]. Experiments [10] showed an increase in strength of silica fibers after they were heated to 1,188°C for 4 hours and then allowed to cool. However, heating silica fibers in a flame makes them weaken considerably [2]. Although the strength may change with temperature changes, the strength at relatively low temperatures does not depend on the temperature [193].

The values of strength thus vary depending on the conditions of test and of use. Any improvement in these conditions should increase the apparent strength. A strength test gives not the true value of strength but rather the residual value after the fiber has been damaged in some way [114].

## 4.2 Elastic Properties

Silica fibers exhibit almost perfect elasticity up to the breaking point; any deviations are so slight as to be barely measurable.

Although the elastic constants have been determined since silica fibers were first used [1], there is not complete agreement between early values and those determined rather recently. Again as with strength, testing methods and conditions of the test and of the specimens considerably affect the final results with the errors either magnified or diminished. Absolute determinations of elastic constants require accurate values of size, density, and mass [244]. Temperature effects must also be considered if individual measurements made under different conditions are to be related or compared. Anelastic effects which cause the strain to lag behind the stress, must be accounted for since the elastic constants are related harmoniously only if the rate of stress application is the same [224].

Within the experimental error, the elastic moduli can be considered to remain fairly constant over the range of sizes used. The experiments of some investigators [1, 2, 5, 9, 188 to 191] show a dependence on the fiber diameter of Young's modulus and of the shear modulus. However, later investigations showed that these moduli were independent of the diameter and of the length, and pointed to slight errors in former measurements [11, 193].

A summary and discussion of much of the experimental work on the elastic constants of fused-silica fibers can be found in Sosman's treatise on silica [7]. Some of the experiments [1, 2, 182, 185], and later work [184, 187, 188 to 191, 244] show that Young's modulus and the shear modulus do not vary appreciably over the range of temperatures used in There is a slight linear increase the tests. in both of these constants with increasing temperature up to the region of viscous flow. The moduli continue to decrease from values measured at room temperature to those measured down to -200°C [245]. The change in shear modulus with change in temperature affects the readings of very sensitive measuring instruments [62, 63, 107]. For example, Sheft and Fried [62] found an increase in rigidity, in a spring balance, of about 0.02 percent per degree centigrade which was reflected in a change in elongation of 0.02 percent of the total load per degree centigrade. The change seemed to indicate strengthening with increasing temperature.

The elastic moduli vary with the surrounding atmosphere, exhibiting higher values in a vacuum and in alcohol vapor than in water or moist air [192], which increase could not be due to the weight of the moisture. This effect was also observed in silica springs where an increase in elongation occurred in water or alcohol vapor but not in inorganic vapors when these springs were exposed to the vapors after being in a vacuum [196]. This was, however, erroneously attributed to an expansion of the silica because of absorption. Silica fibers etched in hydrofluoric acid had values of elastic moduli in close agreement with unetched fibers with some uncertainty regarding an actual increase [192].

Slight deviations from "perfect elasticity" of silica fibers can be attributed to a slight delayed elastic effect noted when fibers are twisted through large angles. The classification of the types of deformation due to applied load generally used are: an instantaneous strain which is completely recoverable, a delayed elastic strain which is recovered slowly, and a viscous flow which is not recoverable but which appears to be nonexistent in fused silica at temperatures below about 800°C [7, 117]. The delayed elastic effect is similar in effect to a progressive increase in viscosity and frequently is confused with a viscous flow or creep [117]. Although delayed elastic effects are of some concern in commercial glass fibers, the effects in fused-silica fibers are rather negligible, approximately 100 times less than in other glass fibers [217, 218]. A delayed elastic effect has been noticed in instruments using a torsion fiber. However, a constant correction could be applied, as after a short time the rate became constant. In addition the effect decreased with decreasing fiber diameter so that in the finest fibers the effect is barely perceptible [1, 66]. A part of the apparent delayed elastic effect could also be attributed to the mountings used for the fibers [24, 53]. With increasing temperature the delayed elastic effect, expressed as the ratio of the delayed strain to the instantaneous strain, increases. Fused silica has the lowest value of the ratio of all the glasses [117].

## 5. SOME PROPERTIES OF FUSED SILICA

The properties of fused silica observed at room temperature combine to make it such a useful material. While some properties may change with time, temperature, or surrounding atmosphere the magnitude of the changes is usually small compared with similar changes in other materials. The properties discussed in this section usually are determined for fused silica in bulk form, but are of some importance in the use of silica fibers.

Since fused silica is a glass, the most simple glass, it would seem appropriate to place glass in reference to other states of matter. The ASTM describes glass [301] simply as "an inorganic product of fusion which has cooled to a rigid condition without crystallizing." The vitreous or glassy condition is rather difficult to define as is evidenced by the numerous papers on the subject some of which attempt to describe the condition of glass as distinct from or similar to the solid and liquid states [124 to 164].

#### 5.1 Structure

The present picture of the atomic arrangement of fused silica developed from the laws of crystal chemistry, analysis of X-ray diffraction patterns, and studies of certain physical properties. It was from studies on crystal structure that Goldschmidt [126], Zachariasen [126], Sosman [7], and others [124, 151, 155] developed theories on the atomic arrangement and formation of glasses. The early methods and the apparent similarity between crystal and glass led some observers [124, 151] to believe that fused silica and other glasses were made up of particles of crystalline material called "crystallites." However, even without the analytical tools later used by Warren and his co-workers [127 to 134], Zachariasen postulated the existence of a random three-dimensional network with energy comparable to that of the corresponding crystalline network in fused silica and glasses in general and laid down certain conditions as necessary for the formation of oxide glasses. The network picture thus

postulated by Zachariasen was later verified by Warren and his co-workers. These experimenters using a Fourier analysis of the X-ray diffraction pattern, first of fused silica and later of other glasses, were able to show not only the arrangement but also the average interionic distances and the mean bond angles. They also showed that any particles in fused silica showing similarity to crystals are too small to be described as crystalline matter.

The structural arrangement of fused silica as confirmed by Warren's analysis consists of a short order structure which is tetrahedral in form with 1 silicon ion bonded to 4 oxygen ions, with each oxygen ion bonded in turn to 2 silicon ions. The tetrahedra share the oxygen corners to form a long range three-dimensional random network. A twodimensional picture of this structure shows the network made up of a series of irregular rings, where the average number [154] of tetrahedra per ring is six and the number of tetrahedra in individual rings varies from 3 to 10 or more. Where the bond angle between tetrahedra is nearly 180° and varies slightly for successive tetrahedra, a buildup of a random or "disordered" [143] network is allowed. It is this flexibility in bond angles which gives fused silica and other glasses the long-range disorder of a liquid; while the ordered distances and angles within a tetrahedron gives them the short-range order of a crystal.

#### 5.2 Chemical Durability

At room temperature, fused silica is attacked by hydrofluoric acid. Near 300 to 400°C, phosphoric acid starts to attack silica. At high temperatures and up to 1,000°C, weak and moderately concentrated solutions of basic salts and of metallic oxides and basic salts react with fused silica. Fused silica is reduced to silicon by carbon at temperatures over 1,600°C [110]. It is also reduced at high temperatures by hydrogen which forms silicon hydride. When this material is cooled the part of the silicon hydride not oxidized decomposes into silicon and hydrogen and forms a deposit of silica and silicon on the surface of the material [281]. This deposit, observed on fibers fused in a flame containing hydrogen, has frequently been confused with devitrification of the fiber.

## 5.3 Permeability

Fused silica is permeable to neon, hydrogen, and helium at elevated temperatures and under pressure [7, 10, 109, 112, 296]. Devitrified and nontransparent types of fused silica are more permeable than the transparent form. The rate of diffusion may depend to some extent on the size of the openings in the random network [116, 296] and on the size of the gas atoms. Thus fused silica with larger random openings than other glasses would allow larger gas molecules to pass through and the smaller gas molecules could pass through more quickly than in some other glasses [296]. Reviews of work on permeability indicate considerable differences in observations on the amounts of diffusion through fused silica [4, 109, 112].

## 5.4 Sorption

Fused silica exhibits a combination of a reversible adsorption plus a slow permanent sorption of water [285]. This reversible adsorption was reduced about 35 percent by acid treatment, and an additional 30 percent by heat treatment. The rate of permanent sorption as found by Barrett [285] in finely powdered transparent fused silica, fell off rapidly in about a half hour after exposure to moisture and then became constant at about  $4 \times 10^{-10}$  g/cm<sup>2</sup>/hr. This process seemed to be an actual diffusion of water into the silica. Fused silica apparently does not adsorb inorganic vapors in sufficient amounts to be measurable [196]. It does however adsorb alcohol vapor [192, 193] and the vapor of paraffin oil [175] though in smaller amounts than the water vapor. This adsorption of moisture affects the strength and the elastic constants such as Young's modulus and the shear modulus which in turn affect the

behavior of measuring instruments [62, 106, 196].

## 5.5 Hardness

The "hardness" of fused silica is not only a function of the strength and the elastic properties but must be greatly influenced by the chemical resistivity of the glass and by the environment [116]. The hardness of fused silica has been determined on the various hardness scales although an exact definition has not been formulated. The Mohs' hardness numbers given for fused silica range from 5 to 7 [9, 10, 312]. The Knoop indentation hardness number given for fused silica is approximately 475 [284] where the value for quartz is approximately 710 to 790 [302]. This Knoop indentation scale shows fused silica to be harder than some other glasses and many metals including brass, gold, silver, tantalum, and some stainless steels.

## 5.6 Density

The density of transparent fused silica is approximately 2.21 g/cm<sup>3</sup> while that of nontransparent fused silica is about 2.07 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. The density of the specimens of fused silica may vary about 0.05 percent or even as much as 0.1 percent, a variation of about 10 times that of specimens of crystalline quartz [7]. Sosman thought that it might be possible to correlate these variations with the source, with the thermal treatment or with the state of strain in the fused silica. Since that time these factors have been related to density changes in a number of experiments [170, 289, 292].

Density measurements at temperatures up to 1,700°C showed that there is an equilibrium density which increases with temperature [289]. The specimens used changed from the initial density to the equilibrium value for the temperature at which the specimen was heated. The rate of change increased as the temperature increased so that at 1,300°C they had a density corresponding to the high-temperature density. These changes in density with heat treatment were found to occur in addition to the normal thermal expansion, in effect a slow change of volume in addition to an instantaneous change in volume.

Under uniaxial pressure an increase in density was noted [289, 292]. Bridgman and Simon [292] found a threshold pressure near 100 atm above which the structure of fused silica seemed to collapse. Rapid increases in density of 7.5 percent and occasionally at high as 17.5 percent, to 2.61  $g/cm^3$ , were found. After X-ray examination showed the specimens to be amorphous, the increase was attributed to a folding up of the network; a bending of the Si-O bonds rather than a shortening of them. This folded-up structure was mechanically stable at ordinary temperatures, but with heat treatment the density decreased to the original value. Both Douglas [289] and Bridgman and Simon concluded that there appears to be an equilibrium configuration which may be approached from either direction. Their experiments support Sosman's theory that heat treatment and strain could cause variations in individual specimens.

## 5.7 Devitrification

The rate of crystallization or the devitrification of fused silica depends on the temperature to which it is heated, the period of heating and on the degree of subdivision. It is also affected by atmospheric dust [251], by the previous thermal treatment [7], and may be related to the viscosity [248].

While fused silica is thermodynamically unstable at all temperatures below 1,710°C, its molecular sluggishness (viscosity) at room temperature is so great that no change toward crystallization has been observed at such temperatures [7]. Fused silica devitrifies only after prolonged heating at high temperatures. At 1,000°C [7] or even at 1,200°C [10] devitrification is hardly perceptible. Above these temperatures fused silica slowly devitrifies into cristobalite. When samples were powdered, almost complete devitrification occurred after heating at 1,100°C for 6 days or at 1,600°C for 1 hour [83].

Although devitrification could not be called a purely surface phenomenon [112], it does start at a surface and work inward [7, 108]. Specimens with a great deal of surface area such as powdered specimens, or those with a large number of bubbles such as translucent types devitrify more readily than large pieces and transparent fused silica [7, 108, 183, 249].

A possible form of devitrification occurred when fused-silica articles were exposed to radium salts at the temperature of boiling water but did not occur at lower temperatures [246].

A dependence of the rate or of the amount of devitrification on previous thermal treatment is evidenced by the appearance of less devitrification on specimens made from high temperature melts than on those made from lower temperature melts [7], as well as a greater tendency toward devitrification exhibited by annealed specimens.

The presence of fluxes such as calcium carbonate, calcium oxide, liquid silicates, and certain metallic oxides hastens devitrification [253]. Although titanium oxide and zirconium oxide have been added to fused silica to decrease any tendency toward devitrification, the resulting glasses devitrify more rapidly than pure fused silica [7].

## 5.8 Thermal Expansion

Investigators have long been interested in the thermal expansion of fused silica, which is smaller than that of almost all other materials, because of its usefulness in measuring instruments. Critical examinations of the experimental work on expansion of fused silica presented by Sosman [7] and by Souder and Hidnert [260] show that differences in testing equipment and in methods of testing are responsible for many variations observed in the results of many investigators. With transparent and nontransparent fused silica tested over a range of -125° to 1,000°C, Souder and Hidnert determined a critical temperature of about -80°C where specimens had a minimum length. Viscous flow which started around 800°C hindered their measurements of expansion above that temperature.

The expansion of fused silica changes slightly with heat treatment. Heat treatment over the range 20° to 750°C increased the expansion by about 20 percent of the total expansion [170] which results in a slightly larger coefficient for annealed specimens than for unannealed ones [260]. In addition to the change in expansion, a permanent increase in length occurs after heat treatment. An average variation after cooling from 1,000°C was 0.001 percent with a maximum of 0.003 percent [108, 260].

The coefficient of expansion of transparent fused silica is slightly larger than that of the nontransparent [108, 255, 260], a difference amounting to about 25 ppm on the heating cycle and to about 30 ppm on the cooling cycle [108].

Thermal expansion or the instantaneous change of volume with change of temperature [289] can be explained by structural considerations and defined in terms of thermal history and the temperature of measurement. The small coefficient for fused silica as compared to that of quartz could be a direct result of the random structure of the glass [133, 166]. Since a small thermal expansion can take place by a change in average interatomic distance or by a configuration change such as a change in bond angles, an increase of disorder or an increase in structural binding would decrease the expansion coefficient [289], where bond angle changes in the random structure can compensate for other effects which tend to increase the coefficient [153]. The negative coefficient is due to an increase of structural binding with decrease in temperature [166, 170].

## 5.9 Viscosity

It is principally with reference to the development and improvement of methods of melting and working glasses that the relationship between viscosity and temperature, time, composition, and heat treatment have been studied. Much of the work done on viscosity is with specimens of commercial glass types, for studies on fused silica are limited by insolubility and by the high temperatures required to decrease the viscosity enough for present experimental conditions [306].

At room temperature and below several hundred degrees centigrade the viscosity is so high that the material is considered as solid; for instance, the viscosity at room temperature has been estimated at about 10<sup>60</sup> or 1070 poises which is rather incomprehensible for practical meaning [267]. Preston thus considered that viscosity has an upper limit of definition as well as a lower limit, with a viscosity over 10<sup>14</sup> approaching infinity as a quantitative measure. Even in the melt the viscosity is so high that fused silica never really becomes fluid [10]. The viscosity of fused silica at room temperature is so high that movements toward an equilibrium configuration (stabilization) or a configuration appropriate to the temperature at which the glass is used are prevented [117]. The high temperature configuration of the rapidly cooled fibers is retained permanently for all general purposes. The fibers have what is referred to as a low viscosity compared with slowly cooled fused silica, a difference which may account for the differences in properties between the two forms [117].

Studies of the viscosity of fused silica and other glasses are incomplete. The process of viscosity changes due to thermal treatment and the effects of this on the properties of glasses are not completely known. A survey and discussion of the available work and its implications was made by Jones [117]. This and other articles [174, 267, 268, 270, 276 to 280] should be consulted for details of the developments and problems in studies of viscosity.

## 6. BIBLIOGRAPHY

## 6.1 Books and Review Articles on Fused Silica and Fused Silica Fibers

- C. V. Boys, Production, properties and suggested uses of the finest threads, Phil. Mag. 23, 489 (1887).
- [2] R. Threlfall, Laboratory Arts, (Macmillan & Co., Ltd., London 1898).
- [3] W. A. Shenstone, Vitrified quartz, Nature **64**, 65 (1901).
- [4] P. Gunther, Quarzglas, (Julius Springer, Berlin 1911).
- [5] C. V. Boys, Quartz fibers, Dict. Appl. Phys. III, 695 (1923).
- [6] R. Paget, Hardness, density and uses of fused silica, J. Roy. Soc. Arts 72, 323 (1924).
- [7] R. B. Sosman, The properties of silica, (Chemical Catalog Co., New York 1927).
- [8] J. Moore, Fused silica in industry, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. 50, 671 (1931).
- [9] H. V. Neher, in J. Strong, Procedures in experimental physics, (Prentice-Hall, Inc., New York 1939) Chap. V, VI.
- [10] Anon., Fused vitreous silica-its properties and uses, Ceramics 2, 181 (1950).
- [11] E. Eberhardt, H. Kern, H. Klumb, Untersuchungen an Quarzfaden, Z. angew. Phys. 3, 209 (1951).

## 6.2 Applications of Silica Fibers

#### a. Review Articles

- [12] F. Emich, Methoden der Mikrochemie, Zweiten Teil: Quantitative Method, Handhuch der Biologischen Arbeitsmethoden, Abderholden, Urban und Schwarzenberg, Berlin (1923) p. 183.
- [13] F. A. Gould, Balances, Dict. Appl. Phys. 3, 107 (1923).
- [14] G. Gorbach, Sommelieferat: die Mikrowaage, Mikrochemie 20, 254 (1936).
- [15] B. B. Cunningham, Micro-chemical methods used in nuclear research, Nucleonics 5, 62 (1949).
- [16] G. Ingram, The submicro balance and its applications, Metallurgia 40, 231, 284 (1949).
- [17] I. M. Korenman, Y. N. Fertel'meister, Ultramicrobalance, Zavodskaya Lab. 15, 785 (1949).
- [18] E. Singer, Etat actuel de la technique de la microbalance, J. phys. Radium 12, 534 (1951).

#### b. Salvoni Type Balance

- [19] E. Salvoni, Misura di masse comprese fra g 10-1 e g 10-6, Messina (1901).
- [20] C. B. Bazzoni, Loss of weight of musk in a current of dry air, J. Franklin Inst. 180, 463 (1915).

- [21] A. Friedrich, Uber ein verbissertes Modell der vereinfachten Salvoni-Federwaage, Mikrochemie 15, 35 (1934).
- [22] H. K. Alber, Improved apparatus for micropreparative work, Ind. Eng. Chem. (Anal. Ed.) 13, 656 (1941).
- [23] G. T. Seaborg, The transuranium elements, Science 104, 382 (1946).
- [24] B. B. Cunningham, L. B. Werner, The first isolation of Plutonium, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 71<sub>2</sub>, 1524 (1949).

#### c. Nernst Type Balance

- [25] W. Nernst, E. H. Riesenfeld, Uber quantitative Gewichtsanalyse mit sehr kleinen Substanzmengen, Ber. deut. chem. Ges. 362, 2086 (1903).
- [26] O. Brill, Uber einige Erfahrerngen beim Gebrauch der Mikrowage für Analysen, Ber. deut. chem. 38, 140 (1905).
- [27] E. H. Reisenfeld, H. F. Möller, Eine neue Mikrowage, Z. Elektrochem. 21, 131 (1915).
- [28] T. S. Taylor, A determination of the density of helium by means of a quartz microbalance, Phys. Rev. 10, 653 (1917).
- [29] A. Stock, G. Ritter, Gasdichtebestimmungen mit der Schwebewage, Z. physik chim. 119, 333 (1926).
- [30] W. Cawood, H. S. Patterson, Atomic weights of C, N and F by microbalance method, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. [A] 236, 77 (1936).
- [31] E. A. Gulbransen, Vacuum microbalance for study of chemical reactions on metals, Rev. Sci. Inst. 15, 201 (1944).
- [32] H. H. Podgurski, A microbalance for oxidation rate studies of Aluminum, Phys. Sci. Develop. Shops, U. of Chicago (1945).
- [33] E. A. Gulbransen, New developments in the study of surface chemistry, Metal Progress, 49, 553 (1946).
- [34] J. T. Stock, M. A. Fill, A direct reading microbalance for preparative work, Metallurgia, 37-8, 108 (1947-8)
- [35] F. C. Edwards, R. R. Baldwin, Magnetically controlled quartz fiber microbalance, Anal. Chem. 23, 357 (1951).
- [36] R. S. Bradley, A silica micro-balance; its construction and manipulation, and the theory of its action, J. Sci. Inst. 30, 84 (1953).

#### d. Beam-Knife Edge and Torsion-Restoration

- [37] B. D. Steele, K. Grant, Sensitive microbalances and a new method of weighing minute quantities, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) [A] 82, 580 (1909).
- [38] B. D. Steele, Attempt to determine changes in weight accompanying disintegration of radium, Nature 84, 428 (1910).

- [39] R. W. Grey, W. Ramsay, Density of Niton and Disentegration theory, Proc. Roy. Soc. 84, 536 (1910); 86, 276 (1912).
- [40] W. Ramsay, Les mesures de quantitie infinitesimales de matieres, Comp. rend. 151, 126 (1910); J. phys. 1, 429 (1911).
- [41] W. Ramsay, R. W. Gray, Molecular weight of radium emanation, Engineering 90, 423 (1910).
- [42] F. W. Aston, A simple form of micro-balance for determining the densities of small quantities of gases, Proc. Roy. Soc. 89, 442 (1913).
- [43] H. Pettersson, A new micro-balance and its use, Goteborgs, Kungl. Vetenskaps och Vitterhets-Samhalles, Handlingar 16th series (1914) Thesis, U. of Stockholm (1914).
- [44] H. Pettersson, R. Stromberg, A new kind of microbalance, Instrument Fabriks A. B. Lych, Malmtargagatan 6, Stockholm, Sweden (1918).
- [45] H. Pettersson, Experiments with a new micro-balance, Proc. Phys. Soc. London 32, 209 (1920).
- [46] E. J. Hartung, Observations on the construction and use of the Steele-Grant microbalance, Phil. Mag. 43, 1056 (1922).
- [47] R. A. Staniforth, The Kirk-Craig quartz fiber microbalance (Model A), AEC report N-2112 (September 17, 1945).
- [48] S. J. Gregg, M. F. Wintle, An automatically recording electrical sorption balance, J. Sci. Inst. 23, 259 (1946).
- [49] P. L. Kirk, R. Craig, J. E. Gullberg, R. Q. Boyer, Quartz microgram balance, Ind. Eng. Chem. (Anal. Ed.) 19, 427 (1947).
- [50] H. M. El-Badry, C. L. Wilson, The construction and use of a quartz microgram balance. Roy. Inst. Chem., Repts. Sympos. Microbalances, No. 4, 23 (1950).
- [51] I. Eyraud, Automatic adsorption balance, J. Chem. Phys. 47, 104 (1950).
- [52] P. L. Kirk, Quantitative Ultramicroanalysis (John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1950) chap. 4.
- [53] H. Carmichael, Design and performance of a fused silica microbalance, Can. J. Phys. 30, 524 (1952).
- [54] J. A. Kuck, P. L. Altieri, A. K. Towne, The Garner heavy duty quartz fiber micro balance, Mikrochim. Acta 3, 254 (1953).

#### e. Springs

- [55] J. W. McBain, A. M. Bakr, A new sorption balance, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 48, 690 (1926).
- [56] P. T. Newsome, McBain-Bakr balance for sorption of vapors by fibrous and film materials, Ind. Eng. Chem. 20, 827 (1928).
- [57] J. W. McBain, H. G. Tanner, A robust microbalance of high sensitivity, for weighing sorbed films, Proc. Roy. Soc., (London) [A] 125, 579 (1929).
- [58] A. J. Stamm, S. A. Woodruff, A convenient sixtube vapor sorption apparatus, Ind. Eng. Chem. (Anal. Ed.) 13, 836 (1941).
- [59] G. H. Wagner, G. C. Bailey, W. G. Eversole, Determining liquid and vapor densities in closed systems, Ind. Eng. Chem. (Anal. Ed.) 14, 129 (1942).

- [60] A. H. Weber, Sister Gonzaga Plantenberg, Rapid and direct measurement of vapor pressure of liquid metals, Phys. Rev. 69, 649 (1946).
- [61] R. C. Dunn, H. H. Pomeroy, A vapor-phase sorption study of Iodine and active MgO utilizing the McBain-Bakr spring balance, J. Phys. Coll. Chem. 51, 981 (1947).
- [62] I. Sheft, S. Fried, Quartz spring Jolly balance, Rev. Sci. Inst. **19**, 723 (1948) AECD-2082.
- [63] W. O. Milligan, W. C. Simpson, G. L. Bushey, H. H. Rachford, R. L. Draper, Precision multiple sorption-desorption apparatus, Anal. Chem. 23, 739 (1951).

#### f. Miscellaneous Applications

- [64] H. Gaudin, Sur les proprietes du cristal de roche fondu, Compt. rend. 8, 678 (1839), from Shenstone 1901.
- [65] C. V. Boys, On the Newtonian constant of gravity, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. (London) 186, 65 (1895).
- [66] R. Threlfall, J. A. Pollock, On a quartz thread gravity balance, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. (London) [A] 193, 215 (1899).
- [67] A. Gautier, Sur les appareils en quartz fondu, Compt. rend. 130, 816 (1900).
- [68] B. E. Brauer, The construction of a balance, Inc. Soc. of Inspectors of Weights and Measures, Edinburgh (1909) p. 189.
- [69] O. W. Richardson, Note on gravitation, Phil. Mag. 43, 138 (1922).
- [70] F. A. Lindemann, A. F. Lindemann, T. C. Kerley, A new form of electrometer, Phil. Mag. 47, 577 (1924).
- [71] F. Auerbach, W. Hort, Handbuch der Physikalischen and Technischen Mechanik, Johann A. Barth, Leipzig 6, 113 (1928).
- [72] E. Wiesinberger, Die Anwendung der elektromagnetischen Mikrowaage bei der ausführung vor Ruckstandsbestimmingen u Elektolysn, Mikrochemie 10, 10 (1931).
- [73] E. A. Johnson, W. F. Steiner, An astatic magnetometer for measuring susceptibility, Rev. Sci. Inst. 8, 236 (1937).
- [74] C. C. Lauritsen, T. Lauritsen, A simple quartz fiber electrometer, Rev. Sci. Inst. 8, 438 (1937).
- [75] H. Klumb, H. Schwarz, Uber ein absolutes Manometer zur Messung niedrigster Gasdrucke, Z. Phys. 122, 418 (1944).
- [76] A. Base, A new crystat of the gas flow type and quartz fiber microbalance adopted for magnecrystalline measurements, Ind. J. Phys. 21, 274 (1947).
- [77] R. H. Barnard, Glass fibers research development, Glass Ind. 33, 144 (1952).
- [78] K-D. Mielenz, E. Schönheit, Zur Theorie des Quarzfadenmanometers, Z. angew. Phys. 5, 90 (1953).
- [79] H. V. Neher, An automatic ionization chamber, Rev. Sci. Inst. 24, 99 (1953).
- [80] L. Parker, B. J. Zack, Silica fibers, U. S. 2,624,658, Jan. 6, 1953 L. Parker, Method of

forming batts of silica fibers, U. S. 2,635,390, April 21, 1953.

[81] E. W. Gelewitz, H. C. Thomas, Adsorption studies on clay minerals III A Torsion pendulum adsorption balance, Rev. Sci. Inst. 25, 55 (1954).

## 6.3 Production and Fabrication Methods

#### a. Fused Silica

- [82] R. S. Hutton, On the fusion of quartz in the electric furnace, Trans. Am. Electrochem. Soc. 2, 105 (1902).
- [83] A. L. Day, E. S. Shepherd, Quartz glass, Science 23, 670 (1906).
- [84] F. Bottomley, Fused silica, J. Soc. Chem. Ind. 36, 577 (1917).
- [85] H. George, Survey of methods of fusing raw quartz and shaping resulting products, Bull. soc. encour. ind. natl. 127, 373 (1928).
- [86] J. Fortey, Fused quartz manufacture in Germany, B.I.O.S. report No. 202 (1947).
- [87] R. B. Ladoo, Clear fused quartz, Mining Met. 28, 501 (1947).
- [88] B. A. Rogers, W. J. Kroll, H. P. Holmes, Production of fused silica, Electrochem. Soc. 92, 115 (1947).
- [89] C. Martinez, Influence of small quantities of impurities on the fusion of quartz, Bull. inst. verre 6, 14 (1947).
- [90] F. A. Kurlyankin, The influence of pressure on the removal of bubbles in quartz glass during melting, Steklo i Keram. 8 (1951).

#### b. Fused Silica Fibers and Apparatus

- [91] C. V. Boys, The attachment of quartz fibers, Phil. Mag. 37, 463 (1894).
- [92] W. W. Coblenz, Investigations of infra-red spectra: Note on blowing fine quartz fibers, Carnegie Inst. Publ. 65, 126 (1906).
- [93] H. J. Denham, The construction of simple microbalances, J. Textile Inst. 15, 10 (1924).
- [94] T. C. Keeley, The preparation and silvering of quartz fibers, J. Sci. Inst. 1, 369 (1924).
- [95] K. Sliupas, Spiral springs of quartz, Nature 115, 943 (1925).
- [96] C. V. Boys, Note on spiral springs of quartz by Sliupas, Nature 115, 944 (1925).
- [97] H. D. H. Drane, Quartz helical springs, Phil. Mag. 5, 559 (1928).
- [98] J. S. Tapp, A convenient mechanical means of winding quartz spirals, Can. J. Research 6, 584 (1932).
- [99] H. W. Weinhart, A machine for winding springs of vitreous silica, Rev. Sci. Inst. 4, 350 (1933).
- [100] L. M. Pidgeon, Improved method for construction of quartz spirals, Can. J. Research 10, 252 (1934).

- [101] A. King, C. G. Lawson, J. S. Tapp, G. H. Watson, Manufacture of helical silica springs, J. Sci. Inst. 12, 249 (1935).
- [102] T. J. O'Donnell, Drawing and working quartz fibers, Argonne National Laboratory, Chicago, Ill. March 1946, reissued—Central development shop, University of Chicago.
- [103] M. M. Haring, Notes on quartz fiber drawing supplementing Argonne manual on "Drawing and working quartz fibers ", Info. rep. 35, Monsanto Chemical Co., Central Research Dept., Dayton, Ohio (July 30, 1947).
  - [104] P. L. Kirk, R. Craig, Reproducible construction of quartz fiber devices, Rev. Sci. Inst. 19, 777 (1948).
  - [105] P. L. Kirk, F. L. Schaffer, Construction and special uses of quartz helix balances, Rev. Sci. Inst. 19, 785 (1948).
  - [106] L. Singh, A note on the construction of silica springs, J. Sci. Ind. Research [A] 11, 63 (1952).
  - [107] F. M. Ernsberger, C. M. Drew, Improvements in design and construction of quartz helix balances, Rev. Sci. Inst. 24, 117 (1953).

## 6.4 Properties of Fused Silica and Glass

#### a. Review Articles

- [108] A. Blackie, On the behavior of fused silica at high temperature, Trans. Faraday Soc. 7, 158 (1911); Collected Researches NPL 8, 139 (1911); Chem. News 104, 77, 86 (1911).
- [109] H. L. Watson, Some properties of fused quartz and other forms of silicon dioxide, Bull. Am. Ceram. Soc. 9, 511 (1926).
- [110] B. Moore, Influence of characteristics and treatment of the raw material on the properties of fused silica products and the effect of treatment of the fused product on their products, Trans. Brit. Ceram. Soc. 32, 45 (1932-3).
- [111] G. Slater, Strength and physical properties of fine glass fibers and yarns, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 19, 335 (1936).
- [112] G. W. Morey, The properties of glass, ACS Monograph, (Reinhold Publ. Corp., New York, N. Y. 1938).
- [113] C. J. Phillips, Glass: The miracle maker, (Pitman Publ. Corp., New York, Chicago 1941).
- [114] F. W. Preston, Mechanical properties of glass, J. Appl. Phys. 13, 623 (1942).
- [115] W. C. Hynd, Physics and the glass industry, Sci. J. Roy. Coll. Sci. 17, 80 (1947).
- [116] W. A. Weyl, Chemical aspects of some mechanical properties of glass, Research 1, 50 (1947).
- [117] G. O. Jones, Viscosity and related properties in glass, Repts. Progr. Phys. 12, 133 (1948-9).
- [118] J. M. Stevels, Progress in the theory of the physical properties of glass (Elsevier Publishing Co., Amsterdam 1948).

- [119] R. N. Haward, The strength of plastics and glass (Cleaver-Hume Press, Ltd. London 1949).
- [120] G. O. Jones, F. E. Simon, What is a glass?, Endeavor 8, 175 (1949).
- [121] J. E. Stanworth, Physical properties of glass (Oxford University Press 1950).
- [122] J. Gialanella, Fused quartz, Chem. Eng. 60, 302 (1953).
- [123] F. E. Wright, Fused quartz, a versatile industrial material, Materials & Methods 37, 98 (1953).

#### b. Theory of Glass-Structure, Constitution

- [124] R. W. Wyckoff, G. W. Morey, X-ray photographs of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 9, 265 (1925).
- [125] E. Berger, Contributions to the theory of glass formation and the glassy state, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 15, 647 (1932).
- [126] W. H. Zachariasen, The atomic arrangement in glass, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 54<sub>3</sub>, 384 (1932); J. Chem. Phys. 3, 162 (1935).
- [127] B. E. Warren, X-ray determination of the structure of glass, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 17, 249 (1934).
- [128] B. E. Warren, H. Krutter, O. Morningstar, Fourier analysis of X-ray patterns of vitreous SiO<sub>2</sub> and B<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. **19**, 202 (1936).
- [129] B. E. Warren, X-ray determination of the structure of liquids and glasses, J. Appl. Phys. 8, 645 (1937).
- [130] B. E. Warren, J. Biscoe, The structure of silica glass by X-ray diffraction studies, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 21, 49 (1938).
- [131] B. E. Warren, Geometrical considerations in glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 24, 159 (1940).
- [132] B. E. Warren, Summary of work on the atomic arrangement in glass, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 24, 256 (1941).
- [133] B. E. Warren, The basic principles involved in the glassy state, J. Appl. Phys. 13, 602 (1942).
- [134] B. E. Warren, X-ray diffraction study of glass, Chem. Rev. 26, 237 (1948).
- [135] N. A. Shishakov, Crystals of quartz glass, Compt. rend. acad. sci. URSS, 23, 788 (1939).
- [136] M. L. Huggins, Silicate glasses, J. Chem. Phys. 8, 641 (1940).
- [137] E. Preston, Supercooled silicates and their importance in considerations of the liquid state, Proc. Phys. Soc. London 53, 568 (1941).
- [138] A. G. Pincus, Glass from the atomic view, Ceram. Age **39-40**, 38 (1942).
- [139] M. L. Huggins, K-H. Sun, A. Silverman, The vitreous state, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 26, 393 (1943).
- [140] B. Long, Vitreous state, Verre 2, 1 (1947).
- [141] K. H. Sun, Criteria of glass formation, fundamental condition of glass formation, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 30, 277 (1947); J. Soc. Glass Technol. 31, 245 (1947).
- [142] S. M. Cox, An elementary kinetic theory of dilute silica glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 340 (1948).

- [143] G. O. Jones, What experiments are needed in glass science?, J. Soc. Class Technol. 32, 382 (1948).
- [144] H. O'Daniel, Zur Struktur und Röntgenographie der Silikatgläser, Glastech. Ber. 22, 11 (1948).
- [145] J. E. Stanworth, On the structure of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 154 (1948).
- [146] J. E. Stanworth, The ionic structure of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 366 (1948).
- [147] G. Pincus, Influence of structural chemistry on glass composition, Ceram. Age. 53-54, 299 (1949).
- [148] W. H. Otto, F. W. Preston, Evidence against an oriented structure in glass fibers, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 34, 63 (1950).
- [149] I. Peychès, The nature of the vitreous state. Glass Ind. 32, 17, 77, 123, 142 (1951); Silicates Ind. 15, 77, 96 (1950).
- [150] F. Singer, Nature of glasses, glazes and hardness, Glass Ind. 31, 241, 305, 366 (1950).
- [151] R. Suzoki, A study of silicate melts, Tech. Rep. Tohoku U. Sendai 15, 11 (1950).
- [152] P. Bremond, What is glass?, Glaces et Verres 24, 24 (1951).
- [153] W. E. Houth Jr., Crystal chemistry in ceramics, VIII, The crystal chemistry of glass, Bull. Am. Ceram. Soc. 30, 203 (1951).
- [154] H. Moore, M. Carey, Limiting composition of binary glasses, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 35, 44 (1951).
- [155] T. Moriya, The constitution of glass, Japan Sci. Rev. 1, 61 (1951).
- [156] A. G. Smekal, On the structure of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 35, 411 (1951).
- [157] A. E. Prebus, J. W. Michener, Structure in silicate glasses, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. (May 1, 1952).
- [158] R. Yokota, Color centers in fused quartz, J. Phys. Soc. Japan, 7, 316 (1952).
- [159] A. Winter-Klein, Notions générales sur la formation du verre, Verres et réfractaires 6, 271 (1952).
- [160] B. K. Banerjee, X-ray study of glass fibers, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 36, 294 (1953).
- [161] R. T. Brannen, Further evidence against the orientation of structure in glass fibers, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 36, 230 (1953).
- [162] I. Simon, H. O. McMahon, Study of the structure of quartz, cristobalite and vitreous silica by reflection in infrared, J. Chem. Phys. 21, 23 (1953).

#### c. Structural and Property Relationships

- [163] E. N. Andrade, J. G. Martindale, Physical properties of thin metal films, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. (London) 235, 69 (1935).
- [164] E. N. Andrade, L. C. Tsien, On surface cracks in glasses, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) 159, 346 (1937).
- [165] E. Seddon, Physical property-temperature relationships, their bearing on the nature of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 23, 36 (1939).

- [166] A. Dietzel, Deutung aufälliger Ausdehnungsercheinungen an Kieselglas und Sonderglasen, Naturwissenschaften 31, 22 (1943).
- [167] H. Moore, Physics in glass technology, Repts. Progr. Phys. 11, 342 (1946-7).
- [168] R. W. Douglas, The relation between physical properties and structure of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 31, 50 (1947).
- [169] L. A. Spitz, D. O. Richards, Surface studies of glass, J. Appl. Phys. 18, 904 (1947).
- [170] R. W. Douglas, G. A. Jones, A study of configuration changes in glass by means of density measurements, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 309 (1948).
- [171] J. Gillod, Le module d'elasticite et l'etat structural des verres, Verres et refractaires 2, 26 (1948).
- [172] J. B. Murgatroyd, The delayed elastic effect in glass fibers and the constitution of glass in fiber form, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 291 (1948).
- [173] A. G. Smekal, A note on some relations between the mechanical strength and the structure of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 378 (1948).
- [174] J. E. Stanworth, The viscosity and nature of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 20 (1948).
- [175] W. A. Weyl, Surface structure and surface properties of crystals and glasses, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 32, 367 (1949).
- [176] M. L. Huggins, Stress phenomena from respective viewpoints of solid-state and high polymer physics, J. Appl. Phys. 21, 518 (1950).
- [177] N. Kreidl, The variability of the optical properties and the structure of glass, Glass Ind. 31, 573 (1950).
- [178] J. M. Stevels, Relation between the dielectric losses and the composition of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 34, 80 (1950).
- [179] H. H. Blau, The relations of thermal expansion, composition and structure of glasses, J. Soc. Glass. Technol. 35, 304 (1951).
- [180] H. Rawson, Internal stresses caused by disorder in vitreous material, Nature 171, 169 (1953).

#### d. Mechanical Properties of Silica Fibers

- [181] R. Threlfall, The elastic constants of quartz threads, Phil. Mag. 30, 99 (1890).
- [182] S. J. Bernett, Coefficient of absolute rigidity of quartz fibers and time and temperature variations, Phys. Rev. 6, 114 (1898).
- [183] J. Joly, Vitrified quartz, Nature **64**, 102 (1901).
- [184] K. E. Guthe, On fibers resembling fused quartz in their elastic properties, Bull. BS 1, 101 (1904) S7.
- [185] F. Horton, On the modulus of rigidity of quartz fibers and temperature coefficient, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. (London)204, 407 (1905).
- [186] C. H. Lees, J. P. Andrews, L. S. Shave, Variation of Young's modulusat high temperatures, Proc. Phys. Soc. 36, 405 (1923).

- [187] H. D. H. Drane, Elastic constants of fused quartz- change of Young's modulus with temperature, Proc. Roy. Soc.(London) [A] 122, 274 (1929).
- [188] O. Reinkober, Die Zerreissfestigkeit dünnen Quarzfäden, Physik. Z. 32, 243 (1931).
- [189] O. Reinkober, Die Elastizitäts- und Festigkeitseigenschaften dünnen Quarzfäden, Physik. Z. 33, 32 (1932).
- [190] O. Reinkober, Die Festigkeit und Elastizität von dünnen Quarzfäden, Physik. Z. 38, 112 (1937).
- [191] O. Reinkober, Elastizitätseigenschaften von dünnen Quartzfäden, Physik. Z. 40, 385 (1939).
- [192] S. Schurkow, (Jurkov) Über den einfluss von adsorbierten Öberflachenschichten auf die Festigkeit feiner Quarzfäden, Physik. Z. Sowjetunion 1, 123 (1932).
- [193] S. Jurkov, (Schurkow) Effect of increased strength of thin filaments, Tech. Phys. USSR 1, 386 (1935).
- [194] A. Joffé, A. Walther, Zerreissfestigkeit von dünnen Gläsfaden und Glimmerblättchen, Physik. Z. Sowjetunion 1, 132 (1932).
- [195] F. O. Anderegg, Strength of glass fibers, J. Ind. Eng. Chem. **31**, 290 (1939).
- [196] J. W. McBain, R. F. Sessions, The sorption of vapors by sugar charcoal over a period of twenty years, J. Colloid Sci. 3, 213 (1948).
- [197] P-A. Koch. Über die Beziehungen zwischen Feinheit und Festigkeit bei Gläsfaden, Glastech. Ber. 22, 161 (1949).
- [198] F. M. Ernsberger, Temperature coefficient of the McBain sorption balance, Rev. Sci. Inst. 24, 998 (1953).

#### e. Mechanical Properties of Glass-Theory

- [199] A. A. Griffith, The phenomena of rupture and flow in solids, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London [A] 221, 163 (1920).
- [200] A. A. Griffith, The theory of rupture, Intern. Congr. for Appl. Mech., Delft, 55 (1924).
- [201] F. W. Preston, Impact modulus of glass, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 14, 432 (1931).
- [202] A. Joffé, Über die mechanische Festigkeit dünner Schichten, Physik. Z. Sowjetunion 1, 137(1932).
- [203] F. W. Preston, A note on the concept of brittleness, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 15, 176 (1932).
- [204] J. B. Murgatroyd, The strength of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 17, 260 (1933).
- [205] F. W. Preston, The surface strength of glass and other materials, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 17, 6 (1933).
- [206] A. Joffé, On the mechanism of brittle rupture, Intern. Conf. Phys. 2, 77 (1935).
- [207] J. Bailey, An attempt to correlate some tensile strength measurements on glass, Glass Ind. 20, 21, 59, 95, 143 (1939).
- [208] E. Orowan, Fatigue of glass under stress, Nature 154, 341 (1944).
- [209] J. B. Murgatroyd, R. F. Sykes, Mechanism of brittle rupture, Nature 154, 716 (1945).

- [210] J. L. Glathart, F. W. Preston, Fatigue modulus of glass, J. Appl. Phys. 17, 189 (1946).
- [211] F. W. Preston, Strength of glass and duration of stressing, Nature 156, 55 (1945).
- [212] A. F. Turner, Strength of glass, Glass Ind. 27, 69 (1946).
- [213] W. A. Weyl, The mechanical strength of glass, Glass Ind. 27, 17, 74, 126 (1946).
- [214] H. A. Elliott, An analysis of the conditions for rupture due to Griffith cracks, Proc. Phys. Soc. (London) 59, 208 (1947).
- [215] J. C. Fisher, J. H. Hollomon, A statistical theory of fracture, Metals Technol. 14, TP2218 (1947).
- [216] C. Gurney, Delayed fracture in glass, Proc. Phys. Soc. **59**, 169 (1947), Ceramics and Glass **10**, 127 (1952).
- [217] J. B. Murgatroyd, The delayed elastic effect in silicate glasses at room temperature, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 31, 17 (1947).
- [218] J. B. Murgatroyd, Relation between delayed elastic effect and decay of strength of silicate glasses at room temperature, J. Soc. Glass Technol. **31**, 36 (1947).
- [219] N. W. Taylor, Mechanism of fracture of glass and similar brittle solids, J. Appl. Phys. 18, 943 (1947).
- [220] J. J. Bickerman, G. H. Passmore, The strength and elasticity of glass fibers, Glass Ind. 29, 144 (1948).
- [221] S. M. Cox, A kinetic approach to the theory of the strength of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 127 (1948).
- [222] G. O. Jones, The interpretation of experimental data on the strength of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 33, 120 (1949).
- [223] E. Orowan, Fracture and strength of solids, Rep. on Prog. Phys. 12, 186 (1948-9).
- [224] J. V. Fitzgerald, Anelasticity of glass, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 34, 314 (1951).
- [225] F. W. Preston, Basic problem of the strength of glass, Glass Ind. 32, 284 (1951).
- [226] J. V. Fitzgerald, K. M. Loing, G. S. Bachman, Temperature variation of the elastic moduli of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 36, 90 (1952).
- [227] G. Slater, Strength of glass, Bull. Am. Ceram. Soc. 31, 276 (1952).
- [228] D. A. Stuart, O. L. Anderson, Dependence of ultimate strength of glass under constant load on temperature, ambient atmosphere and time, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 36, 416 (1953).

#### f. Mechanical Properties of Glass—Experimental

- [229] P. Heymans, W. P. Allis, Photoelastic constants of celluloid, glass and fused quartz, J. Math. Phys. MIT 2, 216 (1923).
- [230] P. W. Bridgeman, The compressibility of several artificial and natural glasses, Am. J. Sci. 10, 359 (1925).
- [231] E. J. Gooding, Investigations on the tensile strength of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 16, 145 (1932).

- [232] A. E. Badger, W. B. Silverman, Modulus of elasticity of glass in relation to temperature, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 18, 276 (1935).
- [233] W. B. Emerson, Compressibility of fused quartz glass, BS J. Research 18, 683 (1937).
- [234] W. L. Schwalbe, A. E. Badger, W. B. Silverman, Tensile tests of glass, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 21, 333 (1938).
- [235] E. Rexer, Festigkeit gespannter "Glasstabe," Z. tech. Physik. 20, 4 (1939).
- [236] H. E. Powell, F. W. Preston, Microstrength of glass, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 28, 145 (1945).
- [237] T. C. Baker, F. W. Preston, Fatigue of glass under static loads, J. Appl. Phys. 17, 170 (1946).
- [238] T. C. Baker, F. W. Preston, Effect of water on the strength of glass, J. Appl. Phys. 17, 179 (1946).
- [239] B. Vonnegut, J. L. Glathart, The effect of temperature on the strength and fatigue of glass rods, J. Appl. Phys. 17, 1082 (1946).
- [240] C. Gurney, S. Pearson, Effect of the surrounding atmosphere on the delayed fracture of glass, Proc. Phys. Soc. 62, 469 (1949); Ceramics and Glass, 10, 106 (1949).
- [241] D. Sinclair, A bending method for measuring the tensile strength and Young's modulus of glass fibers, J. Appl. Phys. 21, 380 (1950).
- [242] K. Vedam, The elastic and photoelastic constants of fused quartz, Phys. Rev. 78, 472 (1950).
- [243] S. Pearson, Creep and recovery of a mineral glass at normal temperature, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 36, 105 (1952).
- [244] J. W. Marx, J. M. Sivertsen, Temperature dependence of elastic moduli and internal friction of silica and glass, J. Sci. Inst. 24, 81 (1953).
- [245] H. J. McSkimin, Measurements of elastic constants at low temperature by means of ultrasonic waves, J. Appl. Phys. 24, 988 (1953).

#### g. Devitrification

- [246] W. Crooks, On the devitrification of silica glass, Proc. Roy. Soc. London 86, 406 (1911-12).
- [247] R. C. Ray, Heat of crystallization of quartz, Proc. Roy. Soc. London [A] 101, 515 (1922).
- [248] J. Frenkel, Note on the relation between speed of crystallization and viscosity, Physik. Z. USSR 1, 498 (1932).
- [249] L. J. Trostel, Quartz as a devitrification product of vitreous silica, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 19, 271 (1936).
- [250] E. Preston, Crystallization in silicate slags and glasses, Trans. Faraday Soc. 37, 209 (1941).
- [251] H. R. Swift, Some experiments on crystal growth and solution in glasses, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 30, 165 (1947).
- [252] S. B. Bhattachayee, X-ray study of crystallization of amorphous silica, Science and Culture 13, 469 (1948).
- [253] D. A. Bailey, Note on the conversion of amorphous silica to quartz, Am. Mineralogist 34, 601 (1949).

#### h. Thermal Expansion

- [254] H. D. Minchin, Coefficient of expansion of fused quartz, Phys. Rev. 24, 1 (1907).
- [255] D. Kaye, The expansion and thermal hysteresis of fused silica, Phil. Mag. 20, 718 (1910).
- [256] H. L. Callendar, Anisotropic expansion of a drawn tube of vitreous silica, Phil. Mag. [6] 23, 998 (1912).
- [257] H. Donaldson, Coefficient of expansion of fused silica and mercury, Proc. Phys. Soc. London 24, 186 (1912); Collected Researches NPL 9, 183 (1913).
- [258] H. L. Callendar, The expansion of silica, Phys. Soc. London 24, 195 (1911-2); Nature 92, 467 (1913).
- [259] F. J. Harlow, Thermal expansion of mercury and vitreous silica, Nature 92, 467 (1913); Proc. Phys. Soc. London 26, 85 (1914).
- [260] W. H. Souder, P. Hidnert, Thermal expansion of fused silica, BS Sci. Pap. 21, 1 (1929).
- [261] F. J. Harlow, Thermal expansion of mercury and vitreous silica, Phil. Mag. 7, 674 (1929).
- [262] R. W. Douglas, J. O. Isard, An apparatus for the measurement of small differential expansions and its use for the study of fused silica, J. Sci. Inst. 29, 13 (1952).
- [263] M. D. Karkhanavala, Bibliography of thermal expansion of glasses, Glass Ind. 33, 403 (1952).

#### i. Viscosity and Thermal Reactions

- [264] C. E. Guye, M. Finhorn-Bodzehowski, Sur le frottement interieur des fils de quartz aux basses témperatures, Arch.sci. phys. et nat. 41, 287 (1916).
- [265] C. E. Guye, A. Morein, Frottement interieur des fils de quartz aux températures élevées, Arch. sci. phys. et nat. [5] 2, 351 (1920).
- [266] A. Pazziani, C. E. Guye, Influence du recuit sur le frottement interieur des fils de quartz aux températures élevées, Arch. sci. phys. et nat. [5] 6, (1924).
- [267] F. W. Preston, The temperature coefficient of viscosity and its relation to some other properties of liquids and glasses, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 15, 365 (1932).
- [268] S. C. Waterton, The viscosity-temperature relationship and some inferences on the nature of molten and of plastic glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 16, 244 (1932).
- [269] L. H. Adams, Annealing of glass, J. Franklin Inst. 216, 39 (1933).
- [270] H. R. Lillie, Viscosity-time-temperature relations in glass at annealing temperatures, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 16, 619 (1933).
- [271] A. Winter, Time problem in annealing, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 27, 266 (1943).
- [272] A. Q. Tool, Relation between inelastic deformability and thermal expansion of glass in its annealing range, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 29, 240 (1946).

- [273] G. O. Jones, Influence of the delayed elastic effect on the rate of annealing of glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 31, 218 (1947).
- [274] G. D. Redson, The theoretical development of simplified annealing schedules, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 32 (1948).
- [275] P. Acloque, Considerations of some progress in the theories of annealing and toughening, Verres et réfractaires 5, 247 (1951).
- [276] G. M. Blaimont, J. R. DeBast, P. G. Migeotte, H. P. C. Vandecapelle, A new approach to the study of viscosity of glass in and below the annealing range, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 35, 490 (1951).
- [277] W. Capps, Viscosity of glass, J. Colloid Sci. 7, 334 (1952).
- [278] J. Peyches, The viscous flow of glass at low temperature, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 36, 164 (1952).
- [279] B. O. Davies, G. O. Jones, Thermodynamic and kinetic properties of glasses, Advances in Physics 2, 370 (1953).
- [280] P. L. Kirby, Internal friction in glass, Part I: Theoretical aspects, J. Soc. Class Technol. 37, 7 (1953).

#### j. Other Properties of Fused Silica

- [281] A. Dufour, Reduction de la silice par l'hydrogene, Compt. rend. 138, 1101 (1904).
- [282] I. W. Tilton, A. Q. Tool, Hetrogenity of fused quartz, BS J. Research 3, 619 (1929) RP449.
- [283] L. H. Milligan, The impact abrasion hardness of certain minerals and ceramic products, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 19, 187 (1936).
- [284] F. Knoop, C. G. Peters, W. B. Fmerson, A sensitive pyramidal diamond tool for indentation measurements, NBS J. Research 23, 39 (1939) RP1120.
- [285] H. M. Barrett, A. W. Bernie, M. Cohen, Adsorption of water vapor on silica surfaces by direct weighing, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 2839 (1940).
- [286] W. W. Winship, Wet and dry chlorine vs materials of chemical plant construction, Chem. Eng. 54, 214 (1947).
- [287] R. W. Douglas, J. O. Isard, The action of water and sulphur dioxide on glass, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 33, 289 (1949).
- [288] I. Franke, The action of pure water, below its critical point on  $\alpha$  quartz and fused silica, Bull. soc. Franç. minéral. et crist. **37**, 503 (1950).
- [289] B. W. Douglas, Density changes in fused silica, J. Soc. Glass Technol. 35, 206 (1951).
- [290] A. Rudnay, Evaporation of silica, Vacuum 1, 204 (1951).
- [291] B. P. Colosky, Thermal conductivity measurements on silica, Bull. Am. Ceram. Soc. 31, 11 (1953).
- [292] P. W. Bridgman, I. Simon, Effects of very high pressures on glass, J. Appl. Phys. 24, 405 (1953).

- [293] A. J. Gale, F. A. Bickford, Radiation-resistant fused silica, Nucleonics 11, 48 (1953).
- [294] N. J. Grant, Vycor vs silica heat treating tubes, Metal Progr. 64, 112 (1953).
- [295] W. M. Jones, Permeability and soluability of He<sup>3</sup> and He<sup>4</sup> in vitreous silica, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 75, 3093 (1953).
- [296] F. J. Norton, Helium diffusion through glass, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 36, 90 (1953).
- [297] H. T. Smyth, J. W. Londeree, G. E. Lorey, Compressibility of vitreous silica, J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 36, 238 (1953).

## 6.5 Miscellaneous References

- [298] C. Hahner, Gases in some optical and other glasses, J. Research NBS 19, 95 (1937) RP1014.
- [299] E. C. Riley, J. M. Dallavolle, A study of quartz-fuzing operations with special reference to the measurement and control of silica fumes, Public Health Reports 54, 352 (1939).
- [300] Anon., Precautions to be taken when working transparent vitreosil, Thermal Syndicate Ltd. Wallsend Northumberland.
- [301] S. R. Scholes, ASTM definition of glass, Glass Ind. 26, 417 (1945).
- [302] V. E. Lysaght, The Knoop identer as applied to testing nonmetallic materials, ASTM Bull. No. 138 (1946).
- [303] O. Ralston, Quartz and silica, Mining Met. 28, c199 (1947).
- [304] R. B. Ladoo, Fused quartz vs fused silica, Mining Met. 29, 452 (1948).

- [305] F. W. Preston, Solid liquids. The meaning of 'undercooled liquid' or 'supercooled liquid,' J. Soc. Glass Technol. 32, 233 (1948).
- [306] W. A. Weyl, The use of color and fluorescence indicators for determining the structure of glasses, High Polymer Physics, Am. Inst. Phys. Remsen Press Div. Chem. Pub. Co. Inc., Brooklyn (1948). p. 3.
- [307] E. Eberhardt, Die beugung elektromagnitischer Wellen um dieliktrischen Zylinder als Verfahren zur Dickenmessung von Quarzfähen, Z. angew. Phys. 3, 242 (1951).
- [308] P. Denton, An interference micrometer for diameter measurements of textile filaments in moisture controlled atmospheres, J. Sci. Inst. 29, 55 (1952).
- [309] W. Bobeth, Uber Dickenmessungen in Luft an Fasern mit kreisförmigem Querschnitt, Z. ges. Textil-Ind. 54, 189 (1952).
- [310] T. H. Garner, Vortex Company, Claremont, California. (advertising brochure).
- [311] Microchemical Specialties Co., 1834 University Ave., Berkeley, California (advertising brochure).
- [312] General Electric, Fused quartz catalog, Cleveland quartz works lamp division, G. E. Co., Cleveland, Ohio.
- [313] Bulletin no. 4 Electric heating mantles, Glass-Col Apparatus Co. Inc., Terre Haute, Indiana.
- [314] Corning Fused Silica, New Products Division, Corning Glass works, Corning, New York, March 1953.
- [315] H. Carmichael, personal communication.
- [316] R. G. Olt, personal communication.

## 7. ADDENDUM

- H. B. Williams, The Einthoven string galvanometer, a theoretical and experimental study, J. Optical Soc. Am. 13, 313 (1926).
- C. Nanjundayya, N. Ahmad, Design of a simple quartz microbalance, Ind. J. Agr. Sci. 13, 649 (1943); Chem. Abst. 42, 3622 (1948).
- J. A. Kuck, P. L. Altieri, A. K. Towne, Use of the Garner balance in the investigation of errors in the carbon-hydrogen determination, Mikrochim. Acta 4, 1 (1954).
- F. Harlan, The characteristics of a quartz-fiber electroscope, J. Sci. Inst. **31**, 424 (1954).
- S. K. Datta, An accurate determination of the torsion constant of quartz fibers used in measurement of the

magnetic anisotropy of crystals, Ind. J. Phys. 27, 155 (1953).

- W. A. Shenstone, The methods of glass blowing and of working silica in the oxy-gas flame (Longmans, Green and Co. London, 1907).
- A. H. S. Holbourn, Production of very fine quartz fibers, J. Sci. Inst. **162**, 331 (1939).
- W. Bobeth, Beitrag zum Problem der Dickenmessung an Glasfasern, Faserfrosch u. Textiltech. **3**, 19 (1952).
- R. G. Olt, Improvements in method and equipment for drawing quartz fibers, MLM-656 (Mound Lab. Miamisburg, Ohio, 1954).

WASHINGTON, February 23, 1954.